STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Richland County  
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

OCT - 1 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

CHRISTOPHER COMMANDER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002690  
\_\_\_\_\_

AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. PACHAK  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to object when witness John Presley introduced evidence of petitioner's prior domestic violence against the victim?
2. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to object when witness John Presley offered testimony as to his opinion regarding the truth of petitioner's statements describing the manner of the victim's death?
3. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to sufficiently challenge the forensic pathologist's findings of homicide as a manner of death?
4. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to effectively communicate with petitioner regarding the decision not to present the evidence that petitioner's DNA was absent from the scene of the crime during closing arguments?
5. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to request a mistrial when the solicitor advised the jurors that they could consider events occurring after the victim's death in determining whether malice was present to support a charge of murder?
6. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to object to the court's instruction that "inferred malice may also rise where a deed is done with a deadly weapon?"
7. Was petitioner prejudiced by trial counsel's cumulative errors?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was convicted of murder after a jury trial held before the Hon. James W. Johnson, Jr. on October 10-16, 2006, in Richland County. A sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole was imposed. Doug Strickler, Esq. and Lauren Mobley, Esq. represented petitioner. John P. Meadows, Esq. and K. Luck Campbell, Esq. were the assistant solicitors. (App. p. 1-p. 930). Petitioner appealed his conviction and it was affirmed by the Court of Appeals on June 11, 2009. State v. Commander, Op. No. 27062. (App. p. 939).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on June 1, 2012. (App. p. 936- p. 937) Respondent filed a return dated June 25, 2012. (App. p. 938- p. 944). An evidentiary hearing was held on September 2, 2014, before the Hon. Robert E. Hood. Petitioner was present and was represented by Kristy Goldberg, Esq. Respondent was represented by Suzanne White, Assistant Attorney General. Petitioner, Kimberly Collins, and Doug Strickler testified at the hearing. (App. p. 945- p. 1036). On December 5, 2014, Judge Hood issued an order denying and dismissing the application for post-conviction relief. (App. p. 1037- p. 1057)

A Johnson petition for writ of certiorari was filed with the Court on April 29, 2015. On July 24, 2015, this Court issued an order directing the parties to address the issue raised in the petition, and the petitioner's pro se issues.

A petition for writ of certiorari was filed on August 21, 2015. The instant amended petition addresses petitioner's questions that were raised in his pro se response.

## ARGUMENT I

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object when witness John Pressely introduced evidence of petitioner's prior domestic violence against the victim.

Petitioner was tried for the murder of the victim. The victim and petitioner “worked together, lived together, and shared an intimate relationship,.. Petitioner fathered the victim’s “unborn child.” The victim “tried to end the relationship shortly before she disappeared.” State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 258, 721 S.E.2d 413, 415 (2011). The case against petitioner was largely circumstantial.

In the published opinion on this case this Court further wrote:

A police investigation revealed (and numerous trial witnesses attested) that Petitioner stole Victim’s purse, mobile telephone, and vehicle from her home, sent text messages from Victim’s phone to her family members in which Petitioner pretended to be Victim alive and on vacation, withdrew money from her bank account, used her credit cards, made calls on Victim’s behalf from her mobile telephone, and used that telephone number as a contact number for a telephone chat line.

At the time of his arrest in New Orleans, Louisiana, Petitioner possessed Victim’s vehicle. After police officers gained entry into his hotel room, Petitioner admitted killing Victim. The arresting officers recovered items from Petitioner’s hotel room that connected Petitioner to Victim, including her checkbook, driver’s license, birth certificate, ultrasound image, OB-GYN appointment card, a medical slip bearing her name, car keys, and keys to another vehicle that police located in Victim’s driveway.

396 S.C. at 257-258, 721 S.E.2d at 415 (footnote deleted)

During the trial, the assistant solicitor called John Presley to testify. He was housed with petitioner at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. (App. p. 596, line 7- p. 597, line 4). Petitioner told him that he and the victim had constant fights. (App. p. 600, lines 7-9). Later, Presley said petitioner told him that they had fights and the victim would lash out at him. “And one time he hit

her, that he was arrested for domestic violence, and that she later dropped the charges and they discharged him, they released him.” (App. p. 608, lines 2- 7).

At no time did defense counsel object to this line of questioning. At the evidentiary hearing he admitted that he should have objected to the improper character evidence. (App. p. 997, line 12- p. 998, line 5).

In post-conviction, a petitioner may be granted relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution if he shows: (1) that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by counsel’s ineffective performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466, U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). To prove prejudice, petitioner must show that there was a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the result of proceeding would be different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A “reasonable probability” is simply a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). In addition, “counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.” Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1995). Trial counsel can be found ineffective for failing to object to an improper jury instruction or in failing to request a jury instruction that should have been given. He can be held ineffective for failing to object to the improper admission of character evidence, or prior bad acts, or illegally obtained statements, confessions, or improper searches.

In Mitchell v. State, 298 S.C. 186, 379 S.E.2d 123 (1989). the Court wrote:

In a criminal case, the State cannot attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant herself first places her character in issue. State v. McElveen, 280, S.C. 325, 313 S.E.2d 298 (1984); State v. Swords, 279 S.C. 554, 309 S.E.2d 750 (1983); State v. Gamble, 247 S.C. 214, 146 S.E.2d 709 (1966). Further, evidence of prior bad

acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate that the accused is a bad person.

In State v. Ross, 272 S.C. 56, 249 S.E.2d 159 (1978), the Court noted: “Character evidence is so highly prejudicial that it is usually excluded under hard and fast rules.” (citation omitted). In State v. Johnson, 293 S.C. 321, 360 S.E.2d 317 (1987), this Court elaborated on the subject:

It is well established that evidence of other crimes or prior bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad individual. *See, e.g., State v. Gregory*, 191 S.C. 212, 4 S.E.2d 1 (1939). Evidence of other crimes is never admissible unless necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime charged. *See, United States v. Johnson*, 610 F.2d 194 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir.1979); *State v. Byers*, 277 S.C. 176, 284 S.E.2d 360 (1981); *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Even if evidence of other crimes is deemed relevant and admissible, the evidence may still be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice or misleading the jury. *See, State v. Wilson*, 274 S.C. 635, 266 S.E.2d 426 (1980). Implicit in the rules of evidence which permit the introduction of prior bad acts or crimes into evidence is the prerequisite that they establish some element, i.e., intent or motive, of the crime charged. *See, e.g., State v. Lyle, supra; State v. South*, 285 S.C. 529, 331 S.E.2d 775 (1985); and *State v. Huggins*, 285 S.C. 361, 329 S.E.2d 759 (1985)

293 S.C. at 324-325, 360 S.E.2d at 319.

Credibility was a key issue in this case. In State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 391 S.E. 2d 241 (1990), the Court held that “error which substantially damages the defendant’s credibility cannot be held harmless where such credibility is essential to his defense.”

The PCR court found that counsel was deficient in failing to object to the prior bad act but it could not find prejudice. (App. p. 1047- p. 1049) But the case cited above says that it is prejudicial. The solicitor brought up the prior bad act in closing argument. (App. p. 857, lines 8-14) The trial court gave a charge on the prior records of a witness or witnesses. (App. p. 803, lines 1-19) But it

did not give a limiting charge on petitioner's prior bad act. See, State v. Timmons, 327 S.C. 48, 448 S.E.2d 323 (1997). So the jury was free to view the prior bad act as propensity evidence.

## ARGUMENT II

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object when witness John Presely offered testimony as to his opinion regarding the truth of petitioner's statements describing the manner of the victim's death.

Inmate John Pressley testified that petitioner allegedly admitted his involvement in the victim's death as follows:

And he said that he and she had an argument, she hit him with a stick, and in other words he – she pissed him off and he fell on her and suffocated her.

And I asked him were you unconscious and he said, no, he wasn't unconscious, he suffocated her.

(App. p. 603, line 22-p. 604, line 1)

The solicitor then asked Pressley if the victim had provoked petitioner. Pressley answered:

A Well, I mean, when -- I mean, of course, it's common sense if someone hit you with a stick that is enough to provoke anyone. Did she actually hit him with a stick? In my opinion, I mean, I don't believe --you know, I don't believe that she hit him with a stick. I believe that he was-- he just made this up to lead me on, you know. I don't believe that is true at all about the stick parts.

(App. p. 604, lines 6-13)

On cross examination of Pressley the following transpired:

Q And then he said that she hit him in the head with a stick and --

A This was maybe – which part is it, which statement, the part when he lied and said that he fell unconscious on her...

(App. p. 636, lines 10-16)

Q Second – both of them were hit with stick, right?

A So he says.

Q Right.

A God knows best. So he said.

(App. p. 637, lines 4-7)

Q Okay. That's part of any deal, correct?

A Well, if they hadn't – first of all, I highly oppose murder. I have never murdered anyone, I have no intentions of doing so. If it were my own son, I would not uphold him.

(App. p. 643, lines 16-20)

This is an innocent person here. It is an entirely different thing.

(App. p. 645, lines 16-17)

As a witness, Pressley should not have been allowed to give an opinion as to whether he believed petitioners' account of events surrounding the victim's death. Rule 608 (a), SCRE provides:

The credibility of a witness may be attacked or supported by evidence in the form of opinion or reputation, but subject to these limitations:

(1) the evidence may refer only to character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, and (2) evidence of truthful character is admissible only after

the character of the witness for truthfulness has been attacked by opinion or reputation evidence or otherwise. (emphasis supplied)

In State v. McKarley, 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E. 2d 139 (Ct. App. 2012) the Court held that a forensic interviewer's testimony indicating belief in the complainant's truthfulness was inadmissible. See, also, State v. Kromah, 410 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013); State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76 (2015) If an expert can not offer their opinion on truthfulness, certainly a lay inmate witness should not be able to do so.

Trial counsel's failure to object to Pressley's opinion testimony was prejudiced. The solicitor put Pressley on the stand for the purpose to prejudice petitioner. It was the jury's role to assess credibility. The solicitor compounded the prejudice by bringing up Pressley's opinion testimony in his closing argument:

Well, John Pressley said -- he said they were having trouble, this confirms it. Mr. Pressely, do you believe him? No, these other stories and it wasn't credible, he just suffocated her. I knew he wasn't telling the truth about that stick. He suffocated her.

(App. p. 859, lines 14-18)

Counsel's failure to object to the opinion testimony was unreasonable and prejudiced. Trial counsel testified that there was no particular reason he did not object, but he should have.

(App. p. 998, lines 9-17)

### ARGUMENT III

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to sufficiently challenge the forensic pathologist's findings of homicide as a manner of death.

One of the questions on petitioner's appeal before this Court was whether testimony from an expert in forensic pathology that the victim dies as a result of a homicide was admissible. This Court held that it was admissible. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011) Trial counsel did not put up their own expert in forensic pathology to rebut the findings of a homicide and to create a reasonable doubt.

At the post-conviction relief hearing, petitioner called Dr. Kimberly Ann Collins to testify. She was a board certified forensic pathologist, a board certified anatomical pathologist and a clinical pathologist. She was qualified without objection as an expert in forensic pathology. (App. p. 950, line 12- p. 952, line 16) She testified that she reviewed the following material in preparation for this case:

A I reviewed the post mortem records which included the autopsy report, the death certificate, the coroner report, the activity log, evidence transfer and incident report, toxicology report, the trial transcript of Clay Allen Nichols, MD, a CD of the entire complete trial transcript, handwritten notes from defense counsel regarding a conversation with Dr. Sinja Condradi, a CD with photographs which included 39 scene perhaps and 14 autopsy photographs, investigative records from law enforcement, and medical records from Dravania D. Goodwin (phonetic).

(App. p. 953, lines 1-10)

Her review of Dr. Nichols diagnosis at petitioner's trial was:

The final anatomic diagnosis by the end of the autopsy by Dr. Nicols as history of the suspicious death, moderate decomposition, post mortem expulsion of a previable fetus and toxicology pending, which later turned out to be negative. The cause of death was listed as possible asphyxiation. (emphasis added)

(App. p. 956, lines 19-24) Her opinion as to the cause of death was:

A You can – this is an undetermined cause of death. You've got two things that are taking place. One is you've got a decomposed body and a decomposed fetus.

The adult body was not even x-rayed, which all decomposed bodies should be x-rayed looking for any types of fractures, any projectile paths, any sharp wound injuries.

The fetus should have been fully x-rayed also. When you get a mother that dies, and you have decomposition, you entertain a very different list of differential diagnoses with a maternal death.

So you could have a blood clot to the lung. You could have preeclampsia, seizures. Most women will have a cardiomyopathy when they're pregnant, which is a natural response of being pregnant.

You could have infections. The list goes on with maternal deaths, and none of those were able to be ruled out or even considered or attempted to be ruled out at the time of autopsy.

Q Was there any-- as to the cause of death that was determined possible asphyxia, from the review of the records, was there any medical basis to back that up?

A No. There was trauma to the neck. There was no ligature that was found at the scene. (emphasis supplied)

(App. p. 956, line 25- p. 957, line 25)

She continued:

So there was nothing in the autopsy report at all to point one person in the direction of asphyxia as opposed to a heart attack, as opposed to a pulmonary thromboembolus, as opposed to eclampsia with seizure. There is nothing in this autopsy report that can allow you to conclude a definite cause of death. (emphasis added)

(App. p. 958, lines 6-11)

Dr. Collins testified that the definition of homicide is the death of one person by another. (App. p. 959, lines 14-16) She said it would have been better to have autopsied the fetus and the placenta for a better determination of the cause of death, but this was not done. (App. p. 961, lines 14-21) She again said the cause of death should have been certified as undetermined. (App. p. 962, line 16) And that there was no scientific basis for asphyxia as a cause of death. (App. p. 963, lines 4-9)

In light of Dr. Collins' expert testimony, trial counsel was ineffective in failing to call her or somebody like her as an expert to challenge the State's forensic pathologist. This was prejudicial to petitioner because there was a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. A "reasonable probability" is simply a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in

the outcome of the trial. *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997) Trial counsel admitted he did not present any alternative testimony on the subject. (App. p. 994, lines 18-19) In *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007) this Court held that a criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate. “At a minimum, counsel has a duty to interview potential witnesses, and make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” (citation omitted) Concerning forensic evidence, the ABA guidelines call for the following: “with the assistance of the appropriate expert counsel should [] aggressively re-examine all of the government’s forensic evidence, and conduct appropriate analyses of all other available forensic evidence.” (citation omitted) 372 S.C. at 331-332, 642 S.E.2d at 597. This Court then concluded:

In our opinion, the PCR court correctly found ineffective assistance of counsel. We find respondent proved that trial counsel should have further investigated and more thoroughly challenged the gunshot residue evidence. Furthermore, the evidence at the PCR hearing established that if they had made an appropriate challenge, it would have had a significant impact on the guilt phase of this case.

372 S.C. at 332, 642 S.E.2d at 597.

If trial counsel had made an appropriate challenge in this case and gotten before the jury that the victim’s cause of death was undetermined, it also would have had a significant impact on petitioner’s guilt.

#### ARGUMENT IV

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to effectively communicate with petitioner regarding the decision not to present the evidence that petitioner's DNA was absent from the scene of the crime and in failing to request a mistrial when the solicitor implied petitioner's DNA evidence was present at the scene of the crime during closing arguments.

Petitioner testified at the PCR evidentiary hearing that he was aware prior to trial that DNA was involved in his case. He consented to have his DNA tested. (App. p. 978, line 9- p. 979, line 2) He talked to trial counsel and there was DNA found but it was not petitioner's. He thought trial counsel was going to introduce it at trial. The DNA was found on some gloves inside the victim's house where the crime scene was. The DNA was a mixture of the victim's DNA and some other guy's DNA. Trial counsel never introduced the DNA supposedly because he wanted the last argument. (App. p. 979, line 25- p. 981, line 14)

By not introducing the DNA results, the solicitor seized on that fact in closing arguments and implied that petitioner's DNA was found at the crime scene. He said:

Dr. Nichols said only one time in my 25 years have we found something underneath fingernails. He's cleaning up. There are gloves in there. If he tries to make any issue about why anything wasn't else there, DNA his client, may try to get, they're cleaning, he cleaned it up.

That's a question that's got nothing to do with this case. There's no doubt who killed Vonnie.

Cleaning fluid, it kind of sealed the case, but it wasn't the cleaning fluid.

(App. p. 849, line 18- p. 850, line 2)

Trial counsel did not object or move for a mistrial. He said the solicitor's argument was improper and he should have objected. (Supp. App. p. 3, lines 6-16) In Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998) the Court wrote that "A solicitor's closing argument... should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it." The petitioner's DNA was not found at the scene and no reasonable inference could say that his DNA was at the scene. There was no evidence that petitioner tampered with the crime scene and tried to clean things up. The solicitor's argument put petitioner's character into issue again. Failure to object to such argument constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Mitchell v. State, 298 S.C. 186, 379 S.E.2d 123 (1989).

## ARGUMENT V

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