**RECEIVED**

**FEB -4 2016**

**SC SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002690  
Lower Court Case No. 2012-CP-40-3816

Christopher Commander, #318173,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

At trial, Captain Laviolette testified that when the police entered the hotel room, Petitioner held a gun to his head and made the statement, "Get out of the room; I'm going to kill myself like I killed Vonnie." (App. p. 656). Sgt. Pari testified that he saw Petitioner hold a gun to

his head and state, "Get out, I'm going to kill myself like I killed Vonnie." (App. p. 699). Pari also testified to three room service receipts found in the hotel room, each signed with the name of Gervonya Goodwin. (App. p. 705-6). Sgt. Crayton testified that he assisted in locating the victim's vehicle in the hotel parking garage (App. p. 719). Crayton also testified that he saw Petitioner holding a gun towards his head and heard Petitioner say, "Get out, I'm going to kill myself like I killed Vonnie." (App. p. 721).

Officer Buzali testified that he assisted in the arrest of Petitioner and transport of Petitioner to the police station. Buzali testified that while he was transporting Petitioner, Petitioner stated spontaneously, "I just did what I had to do." (App. p. 754).

Following the jury instructions, the jury took less than 45 minutes to return with a verdict of guilty on the charge of murder. Exhibits and verdict form was sent to jury at 3:24 pm and the jury returned to open court with their verdict at 4:10 pm. (App. p. 916).

The South Carolina Supreme Court, referencing disputed testimony of Dr. Nichols during the trial, found that the admission of the testimony was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Commander's guilt. State v. Commander, 384 S.C. 66, 75, 681 S.E.2d 31, 35-36 (Ct. App. 2009) aff'd as modified, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011) (citing State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318 (2002) (holding that whether error is harmless depends on the facts of each case, including the importance of challenged testimony in prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting testimony on material points, extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and overall strength of prosecution's case)).

Therefore, the Court's conclusion that whatever inferences of Petitioner's character the jury might have drawn from hearing a possible domestic violence incident had minimal effect on the jury's verdict and would not have reasonably affected the outcome of the trial.

**II. Certiorari is not warranted where witness John Presley gave his opinion on whether he believed Petitioner's version of events because Presley was thoroughly impeached by his prior convictions.**

Next, Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in failing to find Counsel ineffective in failing to object when Presley stated that he did not believe Petitioner's version of events. Respondent submits there is probative evidence to support the court's finding that these statements did not reasonable affect the outcome of the trial.

How The Issue Was Raised

John Presley testified at trial that Petitioner told him the cause of the victim's death was suffocation. (App. p. 605, line 23). Petitioner told Presley there was an argument, the victim hit Petitioner with a stick, it made him angry, so he fell on her and suffocated her. (App. p. 603, lines 22-24). Presley testified he did not believe that the victim actually hit Petitioner with a stick. (App. p. 604-6). The State asked Presley to describe Petitioner's demeanor as he described the victim's cause of death. (App. p. 605-606, lines 24; 3-14). Presley answered he believed Petitioner was truthful when Petitioner told him that he suffocated the victim. (App. p. 606, lines 3-14).

Analysis

The PCR Court correctly found that the failure to object, in light of the overwhelming circumstantial evidence, did not affect the outcome of this trial. "[A] witness permitted to give an opinion under Rule 608(a) must restrict the opinion to 'character for truthfulness,' and may not testify whether the witness believes a specific statement or account given by another witness." State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 465, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012), reh'g denied (May

21, 2012). While it was determined Counsel should have objected to Presley's truthfulness, the Court found there was no prejudice from the failure to object because the jury was given the option of believing any or all of Presley's testimony. Notably, Presley's credibility was impeached via cross-examination by Counsel.. (App. p. 615-18; 620-21). Also, as noted above, Petitioner can show no prejudice as there is clear overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.

**III. Certiorari is not warranted where Counsel vigorously cross examined forensic pathologist, Dr. Clay Nichols, and thoroughly challenged the evidence he presented.**

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in failing to grant relief to Petitioner where Counsel failed to sufficiently challenge the forensic pathologist's manner of death finding. Respondent submits Counsel consulted with a forensic toxicologist and determined not to call the expert because her conclusions were not favorable to Petitioner's case. Further, Counsel vigorously cross examined the State's forensic pathologist, Dr. Clay Nichols and thoroughly challenged the evidence he presented.

How The Issue Was Raised

Dr. Nichols, a board certified forensic and anatomical pathologist and Chief Medical Examiner for Richland County, was called to testify to the victim's cause of death. (T. p. 531). Dr. Nichols explained his determination of homicide based on the combination of the autopsy, the scene he examined, and the facts surrounding the victim's disappearance. (App. p. 539-540). Counsel objected to Dr. Nichols expert opinion that the death was a homicide. (App. p. 540, lines 3-4). The Court overruled the objection and instructed the Solicitor to question Dr. Nichols on his definition of homicide. (App. p. 557-558). Counsel cross-examined Dr. Nichols on time of death, cause of death, and how he received information regarding the circumstances. (App. p. 562-577).

### Analysis

The Court correctly found Counsel was not deficient in failing to sufficiently challenge the forensic pathologist's finding of homicide as manner of death. The standard as to whether counsel is ineffective for failing to retain and present an expert at trial is that counsel is *not* ineffective when he vigorously cross-examines the State's witnesses and attacks the accuracy of the evidence. See Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 160-61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991)(holding trial counsel's failure to present an expert witness was not unreasonable under prevailing professional norms where counsel vigorously cross-examined and attacked the accuracy of the evidence). See also Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008) (holding the same). The nature and scope of cross-examination is inherently a matter of trial tactics. United States v. Nersesian, 824 F.2d 1294, 1321 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1987). "[A] defendant has a 'burden of supplying sufficiently precise information,' of the evidence that would have been obtained had his counsel undertaken the desired investigation and of showing 'whether such information . . . would have produced a different result.'" United States v. Rodriguez, 53 F.3d 1439, 1449 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995).

The PCR Court's ruling that Counsel was not ineffective is supported by the fact that Counsel did consult an expert and made the strategic decision not to call her to testify because her conclusions were adverse to Petitioner's defense. See Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 530 (1992) (Where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing a certain strategy, counsel's choices of tactics will not be deemed ineffective assistance.). This decision was reasonable. Counsel cannot be required to seek an expert until one is found that will provide favorable testimony. See Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 109 (2011)("Strickland does not enact Newton's third law for the presentation of evidence, requiring for every prosecution expert

an equal and opposite expert from the defense. In many instances cross-examination will be sufficient to expose defects in an expert's presentation.”

In addition, Counsel challenged Dr. Nichols’s finding through cross examination where he attempted to question his medical conclusion that the victim died as a result of a homicide. Counsel objected when Dr. Nichols gave his opinion and was able to elicit testimony that he was not testifying as to Petitioner’s intent, just that he believed the victim was murdered. (App. p. 576). Also, in closing arguments, Counsel highlighted the fact that Dr. Nichols said he was not claiming Petitioner intended to kill the victim, but only asserting that the victim’s death was a result of someone else’s action. (App. p. 873). Further, as noted previously, Petitioner can show no prejudice due to the overwhelming evidence against Petitioner.

**IV. Certiorari is not warranted where Counsel made the strategic decision not to introduce a DNA report that showed Petitioner’s DNA was not found in a pair of gloves found at the victim’s house because he did not wish to lose last closing argument.**

Petitioner then argues the PCR Court erred in failing to grant relief when Counsel strategically decided not to introduce a DNA report which showed Petitioner was not a match to a pair of gloves found in the victim’s house. Respondent submits Counsel articulated a clear strategy in not losing last argument.

How The Issue Was Raised

Petitioner testified he consented to his DNA being taken. (App. p. 978, line 22). Petitioner testified that he was told by Counsel that the DNA report was exculpatory, but Petitioner did not receive a copy of the results until after trial. (App. p. 980, lines 1-9). Petitioner testified that he spoke with Counsel regarding the DNA and the fact that the DNA found inside the gloves from the victim’s home did not match Petitioner. (App. p. 980, lines 14-16). However, Petitioner testified that Counsel informed him that if Counsel introduced the report,

they would lose last argument and Counsel thought that it was in Petitioner's best interest to have last argument. (App. p. 981-982). Petitioner argued Counsel was ineffective in failing to introduce the report at trial. (App. p. 982, lines 6-9).

#### Analysis

The PCR Court did not err in finding that Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy in deciding not to introduce the DNA report. The PCR Court relied on Counsel's testimony that he did not believe entering the DNA report outweighed his concerns for losing last argument. See Whitehead, 308 S.C. 119. The strategy was particularly reasonable in that Counsel was able to argue in closing that the State failed to present any DNA findings that implicated Petitioner in the murder. (App. p. 806; p. 879-880). Counsel also noted in closing that if Petitioner were a match to any DNA tests, that the State surely would have introduced that evidence. (App. p. 880). The PCR Court did not err in finding that the DNA report would not have changed the result of the trial.

**V. Certiorari is not warranted where the prosecuting solicitor told the jury in closing arguments that they could consider events that took place after the incident when determining malice because the trial court's instructions cured any improper comments by the solicitor.**

Next, Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in failing to grant relief when Counsel failed to move for a mistrial when the prosecuting solicitor stated, during closing, that the jury could consider events occurring after the death to infer the requisite level of malice. Respondent submits the PCR Court did not err in finding that the comment was cured by the trial court's proper jury instructions.

#### How The Issue Was Raised

Counsel objected to the Solicitor's statement regarding malice and the use of events following the act to infer malice. (App. p. 842-843). After a bench conference, the objection was

overruled and the Solicitor was allowed to inform the jury that statements and actions after the events infer malice existed at the time of the event. (App. p. 843). The trial judge instructed the jury that “malice must exist in the mind of the Defendant just before and at the time that the act is committed. Therefore, there must be a combination of the previous evil intent and the act.” (App. p. 903-04).

#### Analysis

The PCR Court did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in proving Counsel was ineffective in failing to move for a mistrial. Counsel acknowledged he did not request mistrial based on the solicitor’s closing argument because he believed any incorrect comment would be cured by jury instructions. “A solicitor's closing argument . . . should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.” Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). First, this is reasonable trial strategy. Second, the trial court’s instructions on the issue cured any incorrect statement of law made by the prosecuting solicitor.

#### **VI. Certiorari is not warranted where the trial court gave a proper instruction that the jury could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon.**

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in not finding Counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial court’s specific instruction that “malice may also arise where a deed is done with a deadly weapon.” (App. p. 905). Respondent submits there was no legal basis on which Counsel could have presented a meritorious objection.

The PCR Court correctly denied and dismissed this claim when it found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof. Petitioner argued that because there was no evidence of a deadly weapon the Court’s jury instruction on malice was improper based on circumstances after the fact. [App. p. 810-811, lines 23-25; 1-5) The standard of review for appellate purposes is to consider jury instructions as a whole, and “if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated

portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). Further, “[a]n erroneous malice instruction is harmless if, based on all of the evidence presented to the jury, it did not contribute to the verdict.” Tate v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 426, 570 S.E.2d 522, 527 (2002).

Moreover, the Court found Petitioner’s lack of a deadly weapon did not result in confusion or misleading of the jury and the South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the South Carolina doctrine of implied malice does not shift the burden of persuasion to the defendant. State v. Crocker, 272 S.C. 344, 346, 251 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1979). Also the instruction was a correct statement of law.

#### **VII. South Carolina has not recognized a cumulative error analysis**

Finally, Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in not adopting a cumulative error analysis under which he should be granted relief. Respondent submits that the doctrine of cumulative error contradicts the use of the Strickland two prong standard, requiring both deficiency and prejudice for a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Fourth Circuit has held that “ineffective assistance of counsel claims, like claims of trial court error, must be reviewed individually, rather than collectively” and does not recognize a cumulative error analysis. Fisher v. Angelone, 163 F.3d 835, 852 (4th Cir. 1998). The PCR Court did not err in failing to conduct a cumulative error analysis. Respondent submits that the PCR Court applied the applicable law and was correct in not adopting a new standard of review on collateral challenges.


**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling as there is ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's denial of Petitioner's application. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issue discussed above.